

Home Search Collections Journals About Contact us My IOPscience

Inhomogeneous non-gaussianity

This content has been downloaded from IOPscience. Please scroll down to see the full text. JCAP03(2012)012 (http://iopscience.iop.org/1475-7516/2012/03/012)

View the table of contents for this issue, or go to the journal homepage for more

Download details:

IP Address: 137.138.125.164 This content was downloaded on 25/11/2013 at 10:40

Please note that terms and conditions apply.

ournal of Cosmology and Astroparticle Physics

Inhomogeneous non-gaussianity

Christian T. Byrnes,^{*a*} Sami Nurmi,^{*b*} Gianmassimo Tasinato^{*c*} and David Wands^{*c*}

^aCERN, PH-TH Division, CH-1211, Genève 23, Switzerland
^bNORDITA, SE-106 91, Stockholm, Sweden
^cInstitute of Cosmology & Gravitation, University of Portsmouth, Dennis Sciama Building, Portsmouth, PO1 3FX, U.K.
E-mail: cbyrnes@cern.ch, s.nurmi@thphys.uni-heidelberg.de, g.tasinato@thphys.uni-heidelberg.de, david.wands@port.ac.uk

Received November 23, 2011 Revised January 29, 2012 Accepted January 30, 2012 Published March 7, 2012

Abstract. We propose a method to probe higher-order correlators of the primordial density field through the inhomogeneity of local non-Gaussian parameters, such as $f_{\rm NL}$, measured within smaller patches of the sky. Correlators between *n*-point functions measured in one patch of the sky and *k*-point functions measured in another patch depend upon the (n + k)-point functions over the entire sky. The inhomogeneity of non-Gaussian parameters may be a feasible way to detect or constrain higher- order correlators in local models of non-Gaussianity, as well as to distinguish between single and multiple-source scenarios for generating the primordial density perturbation, and more generally to probe the details of inflationary physics.

Keywords: non-gaussianity, cosmological perturbation theory

Contents

1	Introduction	1
2	Statistical inhomogeneities in single-source models	2
	2.1 Correlators of one and two-point functions	4
	2.2 Correlators of three-point functions	7
	2.3 New perspectives for discriminating single from multiple source models	9
	2.4 Correlators of four-point functions	11
3	Multiple source models	12
4	When is the inhomogeneity of non-Gaussian parameters large?	15
	4.1 Inhomogeneous autocorrelation of $f_{\rm NL}$	16
	4.2 Inhomogeneities of $g_{\rm NL}$	18
5	Conclusions	19

1 Introduction

Primordial non-Gaussianity is a window onto the early universe, which can be used to distinguish between different models for the origin of cosmological fluctuations [1-5]. For this reason, it is important to characterize as completely as possible the properties of observable quantities in a non-Gaussian distribution. In this paper, we discuss under what conditions local non-Gaussian observables can be inhomogeneous to a measurable level.

Consider subdividing the observable sky of size H^{-1} into a large number of small patches of size $\ell \ll H^{-1}$, and measuring cosmological observables on each of these patches. The effective values of the cosmological parameters can differ from one patch to the other, since each small part of the sky experiences a different local background. In particular primordial curvature fluctuations within a small patch are defined with respect to a local background which can be decomposed into a cosmological background solution of the homogeneous field equations, plus the cumulative effect of random modes with wavelengths larger than the size ℓ of the patch (but smaller than the size H^{-1} of the observable sky). Since different patches of our observable universe are affected by different contributions from the random long wavelength modes, each patch is defined on a different background configuration. As a consequence, quantities characterizing the properties of *n*-point functions of curvature fluctuations can be different in one patch or the other. Indeed the effect of long-wavelength modes on the small-scale gravitational collapse of dark matter halos is described by the peak-background split in astrophysics and is used to explain the biased clustering of dark matter halos [6]. In a non-Gaussian field the long-wavelength modes also modulate the amplitude of the shortwavelength density perturbations which can lead to a distinctive scale-dependent bias which is a powerful probe of primordial non-Gaussianity [7]. Of course there is also a cosmic variance between patches, even if there are no non-zero higher order correlators. However this effect will be small as long as there are a large number of independent measurements in every patch.

Correlators between n-point functions measured in one patch, and k-point functions measured in another patch, depend on (n + k)-point functions in the entire sky. As an example, we will show that the autocorrelation of $f_{\rm NL}$ between different patches depends on a class of parameters controlling 5- and 6-point functions, that in the single-source case reduce to squares of trispectrum parameters. This implies that inhomogeneities in quantities characterizing non-Gaussian observables can be measurable, since at present we have only weak or even no constraints on parameters controlling higher-order point functions in the full sky. Moreover, although the optimal way to constrain higher *n*-point functions in the full sky would be through a direct analysis of that correlator, in practice this is exceedingly time consuming and computer intensive. This problem will become significantly more pressing when the Planck satellite data becomes avalailable in early 2013 [8], since it has a much higher resolution than the WMAP satellite [9]. Only during the last few years have the first constraints on the trispectrum been made [10-14], and there are not yet any constraints on higher n-point functions. Therefore, our method of relating n-point functions to inhomogeneities of lower-order functions should also provide a feasible and practical way of constraining higher-point functions in the full sky, even though the method is suboptimal. There is a clear theoretical interest in constraining higher-order correlators: they may be much larger than the correlators which have already been constrained, and their detection would provide important additional information for characterizing the origin of primordial fluctuations. Refs. [15-17] consider the amplitude of correlators of higher order than the trispectrum for local models of non-Gaussianity. See [18] for an analysis of non-Gaussianity not characterized by a local shape, that investigates 10-point functions and beyond.

The inhomogeneities of non-Gaussian quantities that we analyze in this paper are distinct from the anisotropies of inflationary observables, arising when background vector fields (perhaps of curvaton nature) are turned on [19–27]. We are going to consider primordial non-Gaussianity due to scalar fields that do not induce statistical anisotropy. Conversely, generic models of inflation with vector fields may produce statistical anisotropy but do not induce inhomogeneities of inflationary parameters. The inhomogeneities that we consider here are also different from the scale-dependence of the non-linearity parameters, that describe a variation with size rather than with position of patches [28].

The plan of this paper is as follows: We first focus on single-source scenarios, in which only one field generates the curvature perturbation. In section 2.1 we consider correlators of ζ and the power spectrum, in section 2.2 of $f_{\rm NL}$ and in section 2.3 possible tests of single versus multi-source scenarios. In section 3 we focus on the more general formula of multi-source models, before going on to analyze in section 4 when the inhomogeneities can be large enough to be observable. Finally we conclude in section 5.

2 Statistical inhomogeneities in single-source models

Let us start by considering single-source models where the curvature perturbation ζ arises from fluctuations of a single scalar field. The single-source scenarios that we have in mind do *not* necessarily correspond to single-field models of inflation. We have in mind set-ups in which more than one scalar field may be present in the system, but only one of them, which we dub σ , is responsible for generating the primordial curvature perturbation. Examples are the curvaton model [29, 30], or the modulated reheating scenario [31, 32]. These models are particularly interesting since they are capable of generating large non-Gaussianity of the local type, potentially observable by the Planck satellite. The statistics of the curvature perturbation in general depend on the size of the patch we consider. This is due to long-wavelength fluctuations which contribute to local background quantities in any patch smaller than the horizon. The curvature perturbation within a patch of size ℓ is given by [33–37]

$$\zeta_{\ell}(\mathbf{x}) = N'(\sigma_{\ell})\delta_{\ell}\sigma(\mathbf{x}) + \frac{1}{2}N''(\sigma_{\ell})\delta_{\ell}\sigma(\mathbf{x})^{2} + \frac{1}{6}N'''(\sigma_{\ell})\delta_{\ell}\sigma(\mathbf{x})^{3} + \dots, \qquad (2.1)$$

where σ_{ℓ} denotes the background field value in the patch. It consists of the classical homogenous solution $\bar{\sigma}(t)$, and of fluctuations $\delta \sigma_{\mathbf{k}}$ with wavelengths greater than the patch size, $k < a \ell^{-1}$ (here *a* denotes the scale factor). $N(\sigma) = \int H dt$ denotes the number of e-foldings from an initial time t_i , soon after horizon exit during inflation of the modes of interest, to some final time (for example, during the primordial radiation-dominated era) at which ζ has frozen to its final, constant value. The fluctuations $\delta_{\ell}\sigma(\mathbf{x})$ include modes ranging from $k = a \ell^{-1}$ to $k_i = a_i H_i$, the latter corresponding to modes that exit the horizon at the initial time t_i :¹

$$\delta_{\ell}\sigma(\mathbf{x}) = \int_{a\,\ell^{-1} < k < k_i} \frac{\mathrm{d}\,\mathbf{k}'}{(2\pi)^3} e^{i\mathbf{k}'\cdot\mathbf{x}} \delta\sigma_{\mathbf{k}'} \,. \tag{2.2}$$

We use a top-hat window function to select the modes within this momentum interval. Different choices of the window function should not significantly alter our results. $\delta_{\ell}\sigma(\mathbf{x})$ consists of superhorizon modes at the initial time, $\delta\sigma_{\mathbf{k}}$, which can subsequently be treated as a classical, Gaussian random field with the two-point function given by²

$$\langle \delta \sigma_{\mathbf{k}} \delta \sigma_{\mathbf{k}'} \rangle = (2\pi)^3 \delta(\mathbf{k} + \mathbf{k}') \frac{H^2}{2k^3} . \qquad (2.3)$$

Here the brackets denote ensemble averages.

We are interested in computing ζ in patches smaller than the observable universe, $\ell \ll H^{-1}$, see Fig 1. The local background field value in a patch centered at some position **x** is given by

$$\sigma_{\ell,\mathbf{x}} = \sigma_{H^{-1}} + \int_{a H < k < a \ell^{-1}} \frac{\mathrm{d}\mathbf{k}'}{(2\pi)^3} e^{i\mathbf{k}' \cdot \mathbf{x}} \delta\sigma_{\mathbf{k}'} \equiv \sigma_{H^{-1}} + \Delta_{\ell}\sigma_{\mathbf{x}} \,, \tag{2.4}$$

where $\sigma_{H^{-1}}$ denotes the background field in the entire observable universe. $\Delta_{\ell}\sigma_{\mathbf{x}}$ is comprised of fluctuations $\delta\sigma_{\mathbf{k}}$ with wavelengths greater than the patch size, $k < a \ell^{-1}$, which do not average out when computing spatial averages over the patch ℓ . For a patch ℓ located at a position \mathbf{x} , $\Delta_{\ell}\sigma_{\mathbf{x}}$ therefore acts as a constant, local background. We emphasize that we use the label \mathbf{x} to indicate quantities evaluated in a patch at position \mathbf{x} , and we consider them *not* as functions of the coordinate \mathbf{x} . Denoting the spatial average over the patch by $\langle \ldots \rangle_{\ell}$, we in general obtain the non-vanishing result

$$\Delta_{\ell}\sigma_{\mathbf{x}} = \langle \Delta_{\ell}\sigma_{\mathbf{x}} \rangle_{\ell} \neq 0 , \qquad (2.5)$$

¹Notice, however, that this cut-off does not lead to an additional dependence on t_i of the quantity $\delta_{\ell}\sigma(\mathbf{x})$, besides the one already contained in $\delta\sigma_{\mathbf{k}}$. Indeed, the upper limit k_i is meant to characterize a UV cut-off. Pushing this cut-off to a slightly larger fixed scale, $k_{uv} > k_i$ would remove the additional dependence on t_i , without qualitatively changing our results. This since subhorizon modes are expected to provide only subdominant contributions to the evolution on superhorizon modes.

²We assume that the scalar field σ has canonical kinetic terms, and is characterized by slow-roll dynamics during inflation.



Figure 1. Schematic diagram to explain the measurements we are proposing. The large shaded area is the full sky (Hubble volume) while the two small regions of size $l \ll H^{-1}$ are two examples of the small patches in which observations are made and then correlated.

which depends on the location \mathbf{x} of the patch. On the other hand, when $\ell \ll H^{-1}$, the spatial average of $\Delta_{\ell}\sigma_{\mathbf{x}}$, when computed in the entire observable universe H^{-1} , vanishes: $\langle \Delta_{\ell}\sigma_{\mathbf{x}} \rangle_{H^{-1}} = 0$. This is because $\Delta_{\ell}\sigma_{\mathbf{x}}$ in our approximation depends linearly on the fluctuations $\delta\sigma_{\mathbf{k}}$, which have a vanishing spatial average over the full sky. By the ergodic theorem, and provided that the quantity $\ell \cdot H$ is sufficiently small, the average of $\Delta_{\ell}\sigma_{\mathbf{x}}$ computed over the full sky coincides with the ensemble average, $\langle \Delta_{\ell}\sigma_{\mathbf{x}} \rangle_{H^{-1}} = \langle \Delta_{\ell}\sigma_{\mathbf{x}} \rangle = 0$.

The consequences of long-wavelength fluctuations have been extensively studied in the context of the infrared growth of inflationary correlators. It has been shown that, for sufficiently local observations, a suitable shift of background quantities is able to remove infrared divergences associated with adiabatic field fluctuations [38-41], see also [42-44]. On the other hand, infrared-enhanced effects associated with long wavelength isocurvature fluctuations cannot be removed by shifts in background quantities, and have the opportunity to provide sizable contributions to inflationary observables [45]. In our analysis, we will consider correlators between cosmological observables measured on distinct subhorizon patches within the observable universe, in set-ups where long-wavelength modes generate sizable statistical inhomogeneities. This effect was pointed out already in [46], but for the specific case of single-field slow-roll inflation where inhomogeneities are slow-roll suppressed. Our treatment applies to generic single and multiple source models, and we find that the inhomogeneities can become large in scenarios characterized by observable non-Gaussianity. We will only consider the inhomogeneities arising from scalar perturbations. Tensor modes, included in the analysis of [38, 39], should only generate subleading, slow roll suppressed corrections to our results which we neglect.

After this general discussion aimed to define the set-up, we move on discussing in more detail small scale statistical inhomogeneities of quantities characterizing the properties of the curvature perturbation.

2.1 Correlators of one and two-point functions

The two-point function of the curvature perturbation (2.1) in a patch of size $\ell \ll H^{-1}$ is given by

$$\langle \zeta_{\ell}(\mathbf{y}_1)\zeta_{\ell}(\mathbf{y}_2)\rangle_{\ell} = N'(\sigma_{\ell,\mathbf{x}})^2 \langle \delta_{\ell}\sigma(\mathbf{y}_1)\delta_{\ell}\sigma(\mathbf{y}_2)\rangle_{\ell} + \mathcal{O}(f_{\mathrm{NL}}^2\zeta^4)$$
(2.6)

If we re-express this with respect to the background field in the entire observable universe, $\sigma_{H^{-1}}$, using eq. (2.4) this becomes

$$\langle \zeta_{\ell}(\mathbf{y}_1)\zeta_{\ell}(\mathbf{y}_2)\rangle_{\ell} = N'(\sigma_{H^{-1}})^2 \langle \delta_{\ell}\sigma(\mathbf{y}_1)\delta_{\ell}\sigma(\mathbf{y}_2)\rangle_{\ell} \left(1 + \frac{2N''(\sigma_{H^{-1}})}{N'(\sigma_{H^{-1}})}\Delta_{\ell}\sigma_{\mathbf{x}}\right) + \mathcal{O}(f_{\mathrm{NL}}^2\zeta^4), \quad (2.7)$$

where \mathbf{x} denotes the location of the patch and $\mathbf{y}_1, \mathbf{y}_2$ are coordinates inside the patch. Recall that brackets $\langle \rangle_{\ell}$ denote spatial averages computed over the region ℓ . The long-wavelength contribution $\Delta_{\ell}\sigma_{\mathbf{x}}$ breaks translational invariance: the two-point function depends not only on the separation of the points, $|\mathbf{y}_1 - \mathbf{y}_2|$, but also on the location of the patch \mathbf{x} . The long-wavelength modes therefore generate statistical inhomogeneity. For the case of 2-pt functions, this fact was also pointed out in [46] and, in more generality, in [48].

Taking a Fourier transformation of (2.7) within the region ℓ , i.e., integrating over the **y**coordinates and treating **x** as a constant, we find a relation between the spectra of ζ_{ℓ} and $\zeta_{H^{-1}}$

$$\Delta_{\ell} \mathcal{P}_{\zeta}(\mathbf{x}) \equiv \mathcal{P}_{\zeta_{\ell}} - \mathcal{P}_{\zeta_{H^{-1}}}$$
$$= \frac{12}{5} \mathcal{P}_{\zeta_{H^{-1}}} f_{\mathrm{NL}}(\sigma_{H^{-1}}) N'(\sigma_{H^{-1}}) \Delta_{\ell} \sigma_{\mathbf{x}} + \mathcal{O}(\sqrt{\epsilon_{\sigma}}/N' \mathcal{P}_{\zeta}^{3/2}) + \mathcal{O}(f_{\mathrm{NL}}^2 \mathcal{P}_{\zeta}^2), \quad (2.8)$$

where the full sky power spectrum is

$$\mathcal{P}_{\zeta_{H^{-1}}} = N'(\sigma_{H^{-1}})^2 \left(\frac{H}{2\pi}\right)^2,$$
 (2.9)

and $f_{\rm NL}$ describes the amplitude of the primordial bispectrum relative to the square of the power spectrum, which is given in the δN -approach by [37]

$$f_{\rm NL} = \frac{5}{6} \frac{N''}{N'^2} \,. \tag{2.10}$$

 $\Delta_{\ell} \mathcal{P}_{\zeta}(\mathbf{x})$ measures deviations of the local spectrum, measured in a patch of size ℓ , from the global power spectrum characterizing 2-pt functions of perturbations over the entire observable universe.

Since $\Delta_{\ell} \mathcal{P}_{\zeta}(\mathbf{x})$ is proportional to $\Delta_{\ell} \sigma_{\mathbf{x}}$, it is a Gaussian field with zero mean over the full sky for $\ell \ll H^{-1}$

$$\langle \Delta_{\ell} \mathcal{P}_{\zeta}(\mathbf{x}) \rangle_{H^{-1}} = 0,$$

with two-point function

$$\langle \Delta_{\ell} \mathcal{P}_{\zeta}(\mathbf{x}_{1}) \Delta_{\ell} \mathcal{P}_{\zeta}(\mathbf{x}_{2}) \rangle_{H^{-1}} = \mathcal{P}_{\zeta_{H^{-1}}}^{2} \left(\frac{12}{5} f_{\mathrm{NL}}(\sigma_{H^{-1}}) \right)^{2} N'(\sigma_{H^{-1}})^{2} \langle \Delta_{\ell} \sigma(\mathbf{x}_{1}) \Delta_{\ell} \sigma(\mathbf{x}_{2}) \rangle_{H^{-1}}$$
$$= \mathcal{P}_{\zeta_{H^{-1}}}^{3} \left(\frac{12}{5} f_{\mathrm{NL}}(\sigma_{H^{-1}}) \right)^{2} \int_{k_{\mathrm{hor}}}^{k_{\ell}} \mathrm{d} \, k' \frac{\sin(k' \Delta x)}{k'^{2} \Delta x} \,, \tag{2.11}$$

where $\langle \ldots \rangle_{H^{-1}}$ denotes the spatial average computed over the entire observable universe, which we assume coincides with the ensemble average $\langle \ldots \rangle$. Hence we will drop the label H^{-1} from the angle brackets in what follows. We denote $\Delta x = |\mathbf{x}_1 - \mathbf{x}_2|$, $k_{\ell} = a \ell^{-1}$ and $k_{\text{hor}} = a H$. The integral can be evaluated as

$$F(\Delta x, k_{\rm hor}, k_{\ell}) \equiv \int_{k_{\rm hor}}^{k_{\ell}} \mathrm{d} \, k' \frac{\sin(k' \Delta x)}{k'^2 \Delta x} \\ = \operatorname{ci}(k_{\ell} \Delta x) - \operatorname{ci}(k_{\rm hor} \Delta x) - \frac{\sin(k_{\ell} \Delta x)}{k_{\ell} \Delta x} + \frac{\sin(k_{\rm hor} \Delta x)}{k_{\rm hor} \Delta x}, \quad (2.12)$$



Figure 2. The exact integral eq. (2.12) (solid line) and the approximation eq. (2.14) (dashed line) plotted for $k_{\rm hor}/k_{\ell} = \sqrt{0.03}$. For this choice, a patch of size ℓ corresponds to a 3% region of the observable sky, H^{-1} . On the *x*-axis we have plotted the values $k_{\ell}^{-1} < \Delta x < k_{\rm hor}^{-1} - k_{\ell}^{-1}$, corresponding to the possible distance between non-overlapping spheres of coordinate radius $k_{\ell}^{-1}/2$ within the observable universe.

with $\operatorname{ci}(x)$ the cosine integral function. Notice that, as expected, the correlators between twopoint functions evaluated in different patches of the universe are proportional to $\left(\frac{6}{5}f_{\mathrm{NL}}\right)^2 = \tau_{\mathrm{NL}}$, which in single-source models is a parameter characterizing the four-point function measured in the entire sky.³ In the limit $\Delta x \to 0$, the result takes a particularly simple form

$$F(\Delta x = 0, k_{\text{hor}}, k_{\ell}) = \ln \frac{k_{\ell}}{k_{\text{hor}}} = -\ln (\ell H) ,$$
 (2.13)

corresponding to the well-known logarithm associated with IR-enhancements. For $k_{\ell}^{-1} \ll \Delta x \ll k_{\rm hor}^{-1}$ it can be approximated by

$$F(\Delta x, k_{\rm hor}, k_{\ell}) \approx 1 - \gamma_{\rm E} - \ln(k_{\rm hor}\Delta x) + \mathcal{O}\left((k_{\ell}\Delta x)^{-1}\right)$$
(2.14)

where $\gamma_{\rm E} \approx 0.58$ is the Euler constant. A comparison between the exact result (2.12) and the estimate (2.14) is shown in figure 2.

The magnitude of the statistical inhomogeneities is described by the variance of $\Delta_{\ell} \mathcal{P}_{\zeta}$. Using COBE normalization $\mathcal{P}_{\zeta} = 2.4 \times 10^{-9}$ and the bound $|f_{\rm NL}| \lesssim 10^2$ we find

$$\frac{\sqrt{\langle \Delta_{\ell} \mathcal{P}_{\zeta}(\mathbf{x})^2 \rangle}}{\mathcal{P}_{\zeta_{H^{-1}}}} = \frac{12}{5} \mathcal{P}_{\zeta_{H^{-1}}}^{1/2} |f_{\mathrm{NL}}(\sigma_{H^{-1}})| |\ln(\ell H)|^{1/2} \lesssim 10^{-2} \times |\ln(\ell H)|^{1/2} .$$
(2.15)

For patches ℓ corresponding to a few percent fraction of the observable universe, the logarithm contributes with a factor of order unity, $|\ln (\ell H)| \simeq \mathcal{O}(1)$.⁴ The statistical inhomogeneity seen on these scales could therefore be at a few percent level. This observation was already made in [46] (see also [47], and the more general discussion of [48]). Observational constraints were discussed in [49].

 $^{^{3}}$ However, as we will discuss in section 2.3, this tree level equality can be broken when loop corrections are included.

⁴Here and in the rest of this paper, we will always focus on cases in which the size of the logarithms is of order one. The effects we are interested in are observable thanks to the coefficients in front of the logarithms, that can assume large values.

It is also interesting to consider the correlators of the quantity $\Delta_{\ell}\zeta(\mathbf{x}) \equiv \zeta_{\ell}(\mathbf{x}) - \zeta_{H^{-1}}(\mathbf{x})$, measuring the difference in the amplitudes of the curvature perturbation evaluated in the small patch ℓ and in the full sky H^{-1} . To first order in perturbations we find

$$\Delta_{\ell}\zeta(\mathbf{x}) = (N(\mathbf{x}) - \langle N(\mathbf{x}) \rangle_{\ell}) - (N(\mathbf{x}) - \langle N(\mathbf{x}) \rangle_{H^{-1}})$$

$$= \langle N(\mathbf{x}) \rangle_{H^{-1}} - \langle N(\mathbf{x}) \rangle_{\ell}$$

$$= -N'(\sigma_{H^{-1}}) \Delta_{\ell} \sigma_{\mathbf{x}} .$$
(2.16)

The correlator between $\Delta_{\ell}\zeta(\mathbf{x})$'s evaluated on different patches reads

$$\langle \Delta_{\ell} \zeta(\mathbf{x}_1) \, \Delta_{\ell} \zeta(\mathbf{x}_2) \rangle_{H^{-1}} = \mathcal{P}_{\zeta_{H^{-1}}} F(\Delta x, k_{\text{hor}}, k_{\ell}) \tag{2.17}$$

that is proportional to the two point function measured in the full sky. Also, we have

$$\langle \Delta_{\ell} \zeta(\mathbf{x}_1) \Delta_{\ell} \ln \mathcal{P}_{\zeta}(\mathbf{x}_2) \rangle_{H^{-1}} = -\frac{12}{5} f_{\mathrm{NL}} \mathcal{P}_{\zeta_{H^{-1}}} F(\Delta x, k_{\mathrm{hor}}, k_{\ell})$$
(2.18)

that is proportional to the three point function.

In this paper we will focus on the two-point correlators of *n*-point functions measured in separate patches. It would also be possible to extend our analysis to higher point correlators of the same quantities between different patches. This would require extending our analysis to non-linear orders in $\Delta_{\ell}\sigma_{\mathbf{x}}$ and, depending on the model, also extending the definition of $\Delta_{\ell}\sigma_{\mathbf{x}}$, given in eq. (2.4), to non-linear orders in perturbations. This should be technically straightforward although it would lead to longer expressions. We will not pursue this here, also since the results will be suppressed by higher powers of the power spectrum. Measuring the higher-order correlators of observables in different patches would also become computationally more demanding, something which our analysis, constraining the higherpoint correlators, alleviates.

2.2 Correlators of three-point functions

Because inhomogeneity of the power spectrum is already restricted by observational bounds on the primordial bispectrum, it is more interesting to study the correlators of non-Gaussian observables such as $f_{\rm NL}$ itself. The non-linearity parameter $f_{\rm NL}$ in a patch ℓ , located at \mathbf{x} , can be expressed as

$$f_{\rm NL}(\sigma_{\ell}, \mathbf{x}) = f_{\rm NL}(\sigma_{H^{-1}}) + f_{\rm NL}'(\sigma_{H^{-1}})\Delta_{\ell}\sigma_{\mathbf{x}} + \mathcal{O}(f_{\rm NL}''\Delta_{\ell}\sigma_{\mathbf{x}}^2) .$$
(2.19)

The prime denotes a derivative with respect to $\sigma_{H^{-1}}$ and for single-source models we find

$$f'_{\rm NL}(\sigma_{H^{-1}}) = \left(\frac{9}{5}g_{\rm NL}(\sigma_{H^{-1}}) - \frac{12}{5}f_{\rm NL}^2(\sigma_{H^{-1}})\right)N'(\sigma_{H^{-1}}), \qquad (2.20)$$

where $g_{\rm NL}$ is a parameter describing the primordial trispectrum relative to the power spectrum cubed, and is given in the δN -approach by [50]

$$g_{\rm NL} = \frac{25}{54} \frac{N^{\prime\prime\prime}}{N^{\prime 3}} \,. \tag{2.21}$$

For brevity we suppress the argument $\sigma_{H^{-1}}$ in what follows, and write $f_{\rm NL}(\sigma_{H^{-1}}) \equiv f_{\rm NL}$ etc meaning that quantities without argument are evaluated in the full sky. To leading order in $\Delta_{\ell}\sigma_{\mathbf{x}}$, the difference between $f_{\rm NL}$ measured in the entire observable universe H^{-1} and in a patch of size ℓ is then given by

$$\Delta_{\ell} f_{\rm NL}(\mathbf{x}) \equiv f_{\rm NL}(\mathbf{x}) - f_{\rm NL} = \left(\frac{9}{5}g_{\rm NL} - \frac{12}{5}f_{\rm NL}^2\right)N'\Delta_{\ell}\sigma_{\mathbf{x}}, \qquad (2.22)$$

and the two-point function of $\Delta_{\ell} f_{\rm NL}(\mathbf{x})$ reads

$$\langle \Delta_{\ell} f_{\rm NL}(\mathbf{x}_1) \Delta_{\ell} f_{\rm NL}(\mathbf{x}_2) \rangle = \left(\frac{9}{5} g_{\rm NL} - \frac{12}{5} f_{\rm NL}^2 \right)^2 N'^2 \langle \Delta_{\ell} \sigma_{\mathbf{x}_1} \Delta_{\ell} \sigma_{\mathbf{x}_2} \rangle$$

$$= \left(\frac{9}{5} g_{\rm NL} - \frac{12}{5} f_{\rm NL}^2 \right)^2 N'^2 \left(\frac{H}{2\pi} \right)^2 \int_{k_{\rm hor}}^{k_{\ell}} \mathrm{d} \, k' \frac{\sin(k' \Delta x)}{k'^2 \Delta x}$$

$$= \left(\frac{9}{5} g_{\rm NL} - \frac{12}{5} f_{\rm NL}^2 \right)^2 \mathcal{P}_{\zeta} F(\Delta x, k_{\rm hor}, k_{\ell}) .$$

$$(2.23)$$

We then learn that $\langle \Delta_{\ell} f_{\rm NL}^2 \rangle$ is proportional to a combination of terms containing powers of $g_{\rm NL}$ and $f_{\rm NL}$. As we will discuss in the next sections, those terms are related, by consistency relations valid in the single-source limit, to parameters controlling five and six point functions.

Using the amplitude of spectrum of curvature perturbations, $\mathcal{P}_{\zeta} = 2.4 \times 10^{-9}$, we find

$$\langle \Delta_{\ell} f_{\rm NL}(\mathbf{x}_1) \Delta_{\ell} f_{\rm NL}(\mathbf{x}_2) \rangle = 7.8 \times 10^{-9} g_{\rm NL}^2 F(\Delta x, k_{\rm hor}, k_{\ell}) + \mathcal{O}(10^{-8} f_{\rm NL}^2 g_{\rm NL}) + \mathcal{O}(10^{-8} f_{\rm NL}^4) .$$
(2.24)

For $|g_{\rm NL}| \lesssim f_{\rm NL}^2$ the inhomogeneities are unobservably small, $\langle (\Delta_{\ell} f_{\rm NL})^2 \rangle \lesssim 1$, as $f_{\rm NL}$ is constrained by $|f_{\rm NL}| \lesssim 10^2$ [9]. On the other hand, if $|g_{\rm NL}| \gg f_{\rm NL}^2$, we discuss this possibility further in the next subsection, the inhomogeneities can become significant as the observational constraint for $g_{\rm NL}$ is rather weak, $|g_{\rm NL}| \lesssim 10^6$ [10–14]. In this limit, the last two terms in eq. (2.24), proportional to powers of $f_{\rm NL}$, give only subleading contributions and they can therefore be neglected. The function $F(\Delta x, k_{\rm hor}, k_{\ell})$ contributes with a factor of order unity, and thus we arrive at the result

$$\langle \Delta_{\ell} f_{\rm NL}(\mathbf{x}_1) \Delta_{\ell} f_{\rm NL}(\mathbf{x}_2) \rangle \approx 10^{-8} g_{\rm NL}^2 \lesssim 10^4$$
 (2.25)

For $|g_{\rm NL}| \sim 10^6$, the variation of $f_{\rm NL}$ measured in different patches of size $\ell < H^{-1}$ becomes quite large, $\langle (\Delta_{\ell} f_{\rm NL})^2 \rangle \sim 10^4$, implying that $f_{\rm NL}$ becomes inhomogeneous on small scales.⁵ This is a generic feature of all single-source models with large $g_{\rm NL}$.⁶

It is illuminating to compare the result with the observational accuracy for detecting $f_{\rm NL}$ using a small fraction of the sky. For example, the BOOMERanG experiment found $-670 < f_{\rm NL} < 30$ at 65% CL observing a 3% region of the sky [51]. For patches of the same size, we find the variance $\langle (\Delta_{\ell} f_{\rm NL})^2 \rangle \approx 1.4 \times 10^{-8} g_{\rm NL}^2$ using eq. (2.24). For $|g_{\rm NL}| \sim 10^6$, the variation of $f_{\rm NL}$ measured on different 3%-of-the-sky patches is therefore of the same order of magnitude as the BOOMERanG 1- σ accuracy for detecting $f_{\rm NL}$.

In general, when estimating *n*-point functions on a limited part of the sky, observational errors increase (at least) proportionally to $1/\sqrt{f_{\rm sky}}$ ($f_{\rm sky}$ denotes the fraction of the sky which

⁵ We emphasize that our results are derived retaining only the linear term in (2.19). For $|g_{\rm NL}| \gg f_{\rm NL}^2$, which is the case of interest here, the higher order terms $\mathcal{O}(f_{\rm NL}''\Delta_\ell\sigma_{\mathbf{x}}^2)$ give a subleading contribution provided that $|N''''/N'^4| \ll 10^5 |g_{\rm NL}|$.

⁶A comparable constraint on the inhomogeneity of $f_{\rm NL}$ can be found by considering the correlator of $\Delta_{\ell} f_{\rm NL}$ and $\Delta_{\ell} \zeta$, see (3.14) for this correlator in the multiple-source case. We thank Antony Lewis for pointing this out.

is observed), since there is less data available in a small patch. Therefore when dividing the sky into, say, one hundred equal patches, the error bar on every observation will grow by at least a factor of ten compared to the full sky measurement. On the other hand, we then correlate, over the full sky, the measurements of n and k-point functions evaluated in distinct small patches. This implies that, for the aim of constraining the values of higher-order point functions in the full sky, we are able to regain much of the accuracy we had previously lost.

There is however an important second effect to take into account: when making measurements of *n*-point functions in a patch smaller than the entire sky, a smaller number of correlators can be built. For example, for n = 3, when estimating $f_{\rm NL}$ in a patch the range of scales available is reduced, thereby limiting our ability to analyze the squeezed limit of triangles.⁷ This effect is expected to depend only logarithmically on the size of the patches. Indeed, the signal to noise ratio for measurements of local non-Gaussianity scales as [52, 53]

$$\left(\frac{S}{N}\right)^2 \propto \ell_{\max}^2 \left(1 - \frac{\ell_{\min}^2}{\ell_{\max}^2}\right) \ln\left(\frac{\ell_{\max}}{\ell_{\min}}\right) \,, \tag{2.26}$$

where ℓ_{max} and ℓ_{min} denote the largest and smallest multipoles accessible by the experiment. For example, for patches covering one per cents of the sky, $\ell_{\text{min}}/\ell_{\text{max}} \ll 1$, and the patch size, which determines ℓ_{min} , enters only in the logarithm, reducing the accuracy only by a factor of order three with respect to full sky. We will not develop this issue further in our work, but to account for these logarithmic effects we simply increase by one order of magnitude the values of our expected constraints on higher order *n*-point functions in the full sky. We will see that, even within this conservative estimate, we can find interesting constraints on these quantities.

To conclude this section, let us point out that alternative techniques based on needlets analysis of CMB data are particularly well suited for testing non-Gaussianity in selected regions of the sky. This fact has already been used for investigating inhomogeneity of non-Gaussianity in different, large regions of the sky in [54, 55], with the main aim of investigating foreground contaminations and directional variations of $f_{\rm NL}$. Although no significant hints of anisotropies have been reported in those studies, it would be very interesting to apply the same techniques to a collection of smaller regions of the sky, to instead test inhomogeneities of $f_{\rm NL}$ along the lines we suggest here.

2.3 New perspectives for discriminating single from multiple source models

We have learned from the previous analysis that a large $g_{\rm NL}$ leads to sizable inhomogeneities of $f_{\rm NL}$. On the other hand, other inflationary observables can be affected by a particularly large $g_{\rm NL}$. We discuss in this section this possibility, showing that the conditions allowing to obtain large inhomogeneities for $f_{\rm NL}$ offer new perspectives for distinguishing single from multiple-source scenarios.

Loop corrections [56] are known to influence observables by providing logarithmic contributions that in some scenarios can be large enough to dominate over tree-level quantities [57, 58]. In our set-up, $\tau_{\rm NL}$ is the observable that is most sensitive to loop corrections when $g_{\rm NL}$ is large. Expressing it as

$$\tau_{\rm NL} = \tau_{\rm NL}^{\rm tree} + \tau_{\rm NL}^{\rm 1-loop} \,,$$

⁷We thank Rob Crittenden and Dominic Galliano for discussions on this point.

one finds that for $|g_{\rm NL}| \gg |f_{\rm NL}|^2$, the dominant part of the one-loop correction to $\tau_{\rm NL}$ is given by

$$\tau_{\rm NL}^{1-\rm loop} \approx \left(\frac{54}{25}\right)^2 g_{\rm NL}^2 \mathcal{P}_{\zeta} \ln(k\ell) \lesssim 10^4 \,, \qquad (2.27)$$

assuming that the fourth order derivative N'''' is constrained according to footnote 5. We have used approximation methods similar to [59–61] in evaluating the loop integral. The cut-off scale l should be a bit larger than the box in which we are making our measurements, such that $\ln(k\ell) \gtrsim 1$: because we are making a leading log approximation one cannot consider the limit of the logarithm going to zero. Comparing equations (2.23) and (2.27), we observe that the inhomogeneities of $f_{\rm NL}$ are directly related to the fraction of $\tau_{\rm NL}$ generated by loops

$$\langle (\Delta_{\ell} f_{\rm NL})^2 \rangle \simeq \left(\frac{5}{6}\right)^2 \tau_{\rm NL}^{1-\rm loop}$$
 (2.28)

This consistency relation, which holds for $|g_{\rm NL}| \gg |f_{\rm NL}|^2$, is specific for the single-source case. As we will learn in Sec 4.1, in multiple source models there are additional quantities contributing to the right hand side of eq. (2.28), which in principle make it possible to discriminate between single and multiple source scenarios.

Although for some models one cannot realise $|g_{\rm NL}| \gg f_{\rm NL}^2$, especially for those with quadratic potentials, for a review see [62], it is certainly possible to realise $|g_{\rm NL}| \gg f_{\rm NL}^2$ in general early universe models. This can happen for example in the interacting curvaton scenario [63], since the value of $f_{\rm NL}$ oscillates depending on the initial field value of the curvaton, and the points where $f_{\rm NL} = 0$ do not coincide with points where $g_{\rm NL}$ is suppressed. Also an isocurvature field direction during inflation with a quartic potential and zero VEV gives rise to $g_{\rm NL}$ but not $f_{\rm NL}$ [64]. In general finite volume effects will also generate a non-zero $f_{\rm NL}$ in horizon size patches [65, 66], but in some patches $f_{\rm NL}$ will still be small while $g_{\rm NL}$ is not. Some models of multifield inflation can also give rise to $|g_{\rm NL}| \gg f_{\rm NL}^2$ at the end of inflation, see eq. (82) of [67] (see also [68]).

Interestingly, large loop corrections to $\tau_{\rm NL}$ also break the well-known consistency relation $\tau_{\rm NL} = (6f_{\rm NL}/5)^2$, characteristic for single-source models. This relation is indeed *not* protected against loop corrections, as can be nicely demonstrated by considering models where the curvature perturbation takes the form $\zeta = N'\delta\phi + N'''\delta\phi^3/6$, with no higher order terms. For this class of models $f_{\rm NL} = 0$ to all orders in perturbation theory, within the same patch that this ansatz for ζ is valid in. At tree-level $\tau_{\rm NL}$ also vanishes, $\tau_{\rm NL}^{\rm tree} = 0$, but the unique one-loop corrections generate a non-vanishing result, $\tau_{\rm NL} \approx (54/25)^2 g_{\rm NL}^2 \mathcal{P}_{\zeta} \ln(k\ell) + \mathcal{O}(g_{\rm NL}^3 \mathcal{P}_{\zeta}^2) \lesssim 10^4$. There is no two-loop correction and the three-loop correction is constrained to be much less than unity due to the observational bound on $g_{\rm NL}$. The relation $\tau_{\rm NL} = (6f_{\rm NL}/5)^2$ is therefore clearly violated by the loop corrections. To the best of our knowledge, this has not been demonstrated previously. However the Suyama-Yamaguchi (SY) inequality, $\tau_{\rm NL} \ge (6f_{\rm NL}/5)^2$, which was originally proved at tree level in [69], and the possible effects of loop corrections at all orders in a completely model independent sense [71] (although there are subtelties about the definition of the local correlators beyond tree level [61]).

The previous example is by no means a special case: for generic single-source models we also find that the relation $\tau_{\rm NL} = (6f_{\rm NL}/5)^2$ can easily be broken by loops. Assuming there are no large loop corrections with higher than three-point vertices, and concentrating on the limit $|g_{\rm NL}| \gg f_{\rm NL}^2$, the one-loop corrected $f_{\rm NL}$ is given by $f_{\rm NL} \approx f_{\rm NL}^{\rm tree}(1+13 g_{\rm NL} \mathcal{P}_{\zeta} \ln(k\ell))$.

Using that $|g_{\rm NL}| \lesssim 10^6$, we conclude that the loop corrections to $f_{\rm NL}$ are small, at most at one per cent level, since $13 g_{\rm NL} \mathcal{P}_{\zeta} \ln(k\ell) \lesssim 10^{-2}$. On the other hand, the one-loop corrections to $\tau_{\rm NL}$ of eq. (2.27) can be large, significantly altering the tree level relation $\tau_{\rm NL}^{\rm tree} = (6f_{\rm NL}^{\rm tree}/5)^2$. Combining the results so far we find the general one-loop corrected single-source relation between $\tau_{\rm NL}$ and $f_{\rm NL}$ given by

$$\tau_{\rm NL} \approx \left(\frac{6}{5}\right)^2 f_{\rm NL}^2 + \left(\frac{54}{25}\right)^2 g_{\rm NL}^2 \mathcal{P}_{\zeta} \ln(k\ell) \ . \tag{2.29}$$

The second term on the right hand side arises from the loop corrections and can be as large as 10⁴, irrespectively of the value of $f_{\rm NL}$. It may therefore give the dominant contribution to $\tau_{\rm NL}$. In conclusion, the condition that leads to sizeable inhomogeneities for $f_{\rm NL}$, that is having a large $g_{\rm NL}$, also leads to breaking the single-source consistency relation between $f_{\rm NL}$ and $\tau_{\rm NL}$. On the other hand, even though the loop corrections can cause large deviations from the tree-level single-source result $\tau_{\rm NL}^{\rm tree} = (6f_{\rm NL}^{\rm tree}/5)^2$, the relation between $\tau_{\rm NL}$ and $f_{\rm NL}$ still serves as a useful discriminator between single and multiple source models. Indeed as we will show in section IV, the result (2.27) is converted into a lower bound for $\tau_{\rm NL}^{1-\rm loop}$ in the multiple source case, which also implies that (2.29) becomes a lower bound for $\tau_{\rm NL}$. It would be interesting to generalize this analysis allowing for large loop corrections with higher than three-point vertices and see if the same conclusion holds even in that case.

2.4 Correlators of four-point functions

Considering correlators involving four-point functions measured in small patches, we can constrain higher-order *n*-point functions in the full sky, with $n \ge 5$. In the single-source case, the only new parameter which we can independently constrain (even if going beyond 2-point correlators) is the quantity

$$h_{\rm NL} \equiv \frac{1}{4!} \left(\frac{5}{3}\right)^3 \frac{N''''}{N'^4}.$$
 (2.30)

This is associated with the fourth order term in the standard expansion of the curvature perturbation

$$\zeta = \zeta_G + \frac{3}{5} f_{\rm NL} \, \zeta_G^2 + \left(\frac{3}{5}\right)^2 g_{\rm NL} \, \zeta_G^3 + \left(\frac{3}{5}\right)^3 h_{\rm NL} \, \zeta_G^4 + \cdots \,. \tag{2.31}$$

In multiple-source models, more possibilities arise as we are going to discuss in section 3; in this subsection, we focus on correlators that specifically depend on $h_{\rm NL}$. These involve measurements of $g_{\rm NL}$ in small patches, and read⁸

$$\langle \Delta_{\ell} \zeta(\mathbf{x}_1) \Delta_{\ell} g_{\mathrm{NL}}(\mathbf{x}_2) \rangle \simeq -\frac{1}{10} h_{\mathrm{NL}} \mathcal{P}_{\zeta} \,.$$
 (2.32)

$$\langle \Delta_{\ell} \ln \mathcal{P}(\mathbf{x}_1) \Delta_{\ell} g_{\mathrm{NL}}(\mathbf{x}_2) \rangle \simeq \frac{1}{25} f_{\mathrm{NL}} h_{\mathrm{NL}} \mathcal{P}_{\zeta}$$
 (2.33)

$$\langle \Delta_{\ell} f_{\rm NL}(\mathbf{x}_1) \, \Delta_{\ell} g_{\rm NL}(\mathbf{x}_2) \rangle \simeq \frac{1}{5} g_{\rm NL} h_{\rm NL} \, \mathcal{P}_{\zeta}$$
 (2.34)

$$\langle \Delta_{\ell} g_{\rm NL}(\mathbf{x}_1) \, \Delta_{\ell} g_{\rm NL}(\mathbf{x}_2) \rangle \simeq \frac{1}{5} \, h_{\rm NL}^2 \, \mathcal{P}_{\zeta}$$
 (2.35)

where in the right hand side of each correlator we only include the terms proportional to $h_{\rm NL}$ and that are weighted by the largest coefficient, under the assumption that the actual values

⁸Details of these calculations are given by taking the single-source limit of the general, multiple-source calculation which we will present in section 3.

of $f_{\rm NL}$, and $g_{\rm NL}$ saturate their observational bounds. For simplicity, we also drop the factor F defined in eq. (2.12) which is of order unity and does not modify our discussion.

Approximate 1σ constraints with WMAP for ζ , $\log \mathcal{P}_{\zeta}$, $f_{\rm NL}$, $g_{\rm NL}$ are respectively 10^{-5} , 10^{-1} , 10, 10^6 . Considering around one hundred patches of the sky, the measurement errors in each patch will be about ten times larger than these. On the other hand, when making correlations over the full sky, we should be able to recover the accuracy we loose when focussing on a small patch. As discussed at the end of subsection 2.2, in order to take into account effects associated with the fact that only a limited class of momentum space configurations fits into the small patches, we increase the expected error bars on the correlations above by one order of magnitude. The resulting error bars are consequently of order 10^2 , 10^6 , 10^8 and 10^{13} , respectively for eqs. (2.32)–(2.35). Considering the constraints these terms could give on $h_{\rm NL}$, we see the correlation between ζ and $g_{\rm NL}$, eq. (2.32), would lead to a competitive constraint, of order

$$|h_{\rm NL}| \lesssim \text{few} \times 10^{11} \,. \tag{2.36}$$

Moreover, this correlation is sensitive to the sign of $h_{\rm NL}$. A comparable constraint can be obtained from the autocorrelation of $g_{\rm NL}$, eq. (2.35), although this quantity cannot determine the sign of $h_{\rm NL}$.⁹

Note that the assumption $|h_{\rm NL}| \ll 10^5 |g_{\rm NL}|$, which justifies neglecting the second order terms in eq. (2.19), breaks down when $|g_{\rm NL}| \sim 10^6$ and the bound $|h_{\rm NL}| \lesssim \text{few} \times 10^{11}$ is saturated. To work out the precise numerical factors in this limit one should therefore include the second-order terms and repeat the analysis leading to eqs. (2.32)–(2.35). This however should not affect the order of magnitude of the bound $|h_{\rm NL}| \lesssim 10^{11}$.

How useful is this constraint on $h_{\rm NL}$? As we did in the previous sections with respect to $g_{\rm NL}$, we should compare them with constraints obtained from loop contributions to inflationary observables that are sensitive to $h_{\rm NL}$. There is a "dressed-vertex" loop diagram of the bispectrum [72] which gives $f_{\rm NL}^{1-\rm loop} \sim h_{\rm NL}P_{\zeta}$, which gives effectively a constraint of the same order as (2.36), unless there is a cancellation between loop terms and the tree level term contributing to $f_{\rm NL}$. One would need to include numerical factors to see which constraint is the most competitive.

If one renormalises the δN coefficients to avoid the dressed vertices, as suggested in [72], one should shift the derivative of N introducing $\tilde{N}'' = N'' + N'''' \langle \delta \phi^2 \rangle / 2$, which absorbs this term. On the other hand, in this way, the fine-tuning needed to compensate the loop corrections does not go away, it just becomes harder to spot. If the loops associated with dressed vertices do cancel, then the largest loop term involving $h_{\rm NL}$ becomes $g_{\rm NL}^{1-\rm loop} \sim$ $f_{\rm NL}h_{\rm NL}P_{\zeta}$, which implies $|h_{\rm NL}| \lesssim 10^{14}$, which is a much weaker constraint than we forecast cound be found by considering the autocorrelation of $\Delta_l g_{\rm NL}$.

3 Multiple source models

The extension of the previous analysis to the multiple-source case suggests that our method is able to probe many of the parameters controlling higher-order point functions.

Taking ensemble averages of correlators among *n*-point and *k*-point parameters calculated in small patches, we are probing parameters associated to (n + k)-point functions

⁹Planck data will be characterized by error bars reduced by one order of magnitude with respect with the ones discussed above. The very same procedure could then be applied, obtaining more stringent limits on $h_{\rm NL}$.

evaluated in the entire sky. More precisely, for $n \ge k$ the correlators of local *n*- and *k*point functions probe those parameters of the full-sky (n + k)-point function that contain at most *n*:th order derivatives of *N*, the number of e-foldings. This is the generalization of the observation made in [71] for the power spectrum. In the single-source limit, some of the (n + k)-point function parameters coincide with the squares of parameters associated with lower point functions (analogously to the tree-level consistency relation $\tau_{\rm NL} = (6/5 f_{\rm NL})^2$ holding between four and three point functions in the single source case). This is the reason for which we found that the two-point correlators of $\Delta_{\ell} f_{\rm NL}$'s calculated in different small patches are proportional to $g_{\rm NL}^2$. On the other hand, in the multiple source case, our method in principle allows us to probe individually the various parameters controlling the higherpoint functions.

In this section, we discuss this topic in more detail. Recently, a diagrammatic approach, based on the δN -formalism, has been adopted in [16, 73] to determine the parameters characterizing the five and six point functions. While the three-point function is characterized by one parameter $f_{\rm NL}$ and the four-point function by the two parameters $\tau_{\rm NL}$ and $g_{\rm NL}$, the five and six point functions are characterized by three and six parameters, respectively. In this section, we borrow the notation of [16] for defining parameters associated to 5 and 6-point functions (see [16] for more details, but notice that we do *not* adopt their normalization condition $N_c N_c = 1$).

• Two point function:

$$P_{\zeta} = N_a N_a \left(\frac{H}{2\pi}\right)^2 \tag{3.1}$$

• Three point function:

$$f_{\rm NL} = \frac{5}{6} \frac{N_a N_b N_{ab}}{\left(N_c N_c\right)^2}$$
(3.2)

• Four point function:

$$\tau_{\rm NL} = \frac{N_a N_{ac} N_{cb} N_b}{(N_e N_e)^3} \qquad g_{\rm NL} = \frac{25}{54} \frac{N_a N_b N_c N_{abc}}{(N_e N_e)^3}$$
(3.3)

• Five point function:

$$f_5^{(1)} = \frac{N_a N_{ab} N_{bc} N_{cd} N_d}{\left(N_e N_e\right)^4} \qquad f_5^{(2)} = \frac{N_a N_{ab} N_{bcd} N_c N_d}{\left(N_e N_e\right)^4} \qquad f_5^{(3)} = \frac{N_a N_b N_c N_d N_{abcd}}{\left(N_e N_e\right)^4} \tag{3.4}$$

• Six point function:

$$\begin{aligned}
\tau_{6}^{(1)} &= \frac{N_{a}N_{ab}N_{bc}N_{cd}N_{de}N_{e}}{(N_{f}N_{f})^{5}} & \tau_{6}^{(2)} &= \frac{N_{a}N_{b}N_{abc}N_{cde}N_{d}N_{e}}{(N_{f}N_{f})^{5}} \\
g_{6}^{(1)} &= \frac{N_{a}N_{b}N_{abc}N_{cd}N_{de}N_{e}}{(N_{f}N_{f})^{5}} & g_{6}^{(2)} &= \frac{N_{a}N_{ab}N_{bcd}N_{c}N_{de}N_{e}}{(N_{f}N_{f})^{5}} \\
g_{6}^{(3)} &= \frac{N_{a}N_{ab}N_{bcde}N_{c}N_{d}N_{e}}{(N_{f}N_{f})^{5}} & g_{6}^{(4)} &= \frac{N_{a}N_{b}N_{c}N_{d}N_{e}N_{abcde}}{(N_{f}N_{f})^{5}} \\
\end{aligned}$$
(3.5)

Notice that the parameters associated with 3 and 4 point functions carry the conventional numerical coefficients. The aim of this section is to show that ensemble averages of correlators between quantities involving two and three-point functions depend on parameters associated with five and six point functions. This suggests a method for probing the quantities appearing in eqs. (3.4) and (3.5).

Generalizing the notation of the previous section, we can write in the multiple-field case (summations over repeated indices are understood)

$$f_{\rm NL}(\sigma_{\ell}^{a}, \mathbf{x}) = f_{\rm NL}(\sigma_{H^{-1}}^{a}) + f_{\rm NL, b}(\sigma_{H^{-1}}^{a}) \Delta_{\ell} \sigma_{\mathbf{x}}^{b}$$
(3.6)

where the lower-case upper indices a, b, \ldots denote the different scalar fields involved. Analogous expansions hold for ζ , \mathcal{P}_{ζ} , τ_{NL} and g_{NL} . We assume that the metric in field space is flat, and that

$$\left\langle \Delta_{\ell} \sigma^{a}_{\mathbf{x}_{1}} \Delta_{\ell} \sigma^{b}_{\mathbf{x}_{2}} \right\rangle = \delta^{ab} \left(\frac{H}{2\pi} \right)^{2} \int_{k_{\text{hor}}}^{k_{\ell}} dk' \frac{\sin\left(k' \,\Delta x\right)}{k'^{2} \,\Delta x} \,. \tag{3.7}$$

(We will neglect the slow-roll suppressed σ -dependence of H throughout this paper). Then we have

$$\zeta_{,b}\,\Delta\sigma^b_{\mathbf{x}} = -N_b\,\Delta\sigma^b_{\mathbf{x}}\,,\tag{3.8}$$

$$\left(\ln \mathcal{P}_{\zeta}\right)_{,b} \Delta \sigma_{\mathbf{x}}^{b} = 2 \frac{N_{ab} N_{a}}{N_{c} N_{c}} \Delta \sigma_{\mathbf{x}}^{b}, \qquad (3.9)$$

$$f_{\rm NL, d} \,\Delta\sigma_{\mathbf{x}}^{d} = \frac{5}{6} \left(\frac{2 \,N_{ad} N_b N_{ab}}{\left(N_c N_c\right)^2} + \frac{N_a N_b N_{abd}}{\left(N_c N_c\right)^2} - \frac{24 \,f_{\rm NL}}{5} \,\frac{N_e N_{ed}}{N_c N_c} \right) \,\Delta\sigma_{\mathbf{x}}^{d} \tag{3.10}$$

$$\tau_{\mathrm{NL},d} \,\Delta\sigma_{\mathbf{x}}^d = 2 \left(\frac{N_{ad} N_{ac} N_{cb} N_b}{\left(N_e N_e\right)^3} + \frac{N_a N_{acd} N_{cb} N_b}{\left(N_e N_e\right)^3} - 3\tau_{\mathrm{NL}} \,\frac{N_{cd} N_c}{N_e N_e} \right) \,\Delta\sigma_{\mathbf{x}}^d, \tag{3.11}$$

$$g_{\text{NL},d} \,\Delta\sigma_{\mathbf{x}}^{d} = \frac{25}{54} \left(3 \frac{N_{ad} N_b N_c N_{abc}}{(N_e N_e)^3} + \frac{N_a N_b N_c N_{abcd}}{(N_e N_e)^3} - \frac{324 \,g_{\text{NL}}}{25} \,\frac{N_{cd} N_c}{N_e N_e} \right) \,\Delta\sigma_{\mathbf{x}}^{d} \,. \tag{3.12}$$

Denoting

$$\Delta_{\ell} f_{\rm NL}(\mathbf{x}) = f_{\rm NL}(\sigma_{\ell}^{a}, \mathbf{x}) - f_{\rm NL}(\sigma_{H^{-1}}^{a})$$
(3.13)

and the same for ζ , $\ln \mathcal{P}_{\zeta}$, $\tau_{\rm NL}$ and $g_{\rm NL}$, we obtain the following results (the function $F \equiv F(\Delta x, k_{\rm hor}, k_{\ell})$ is given in eq. (2.12)):

$$\left\langle \Delta_{\ell} \zeta(\mathbf{x}_{1}) \Delta_{\ell} f_{\mathrm{NL}}(\mathbf{x}_{2}) \right\rangle = -\left(\frac{5}{3} \tau_{\mathrm{NL}} + \frac{9}{5} g_{\mathrm{NL}} - \frac{24}{5} f_{\mathrm{NL}}^{2}\right) \mathcal{P}_{\zeta} F \,, \qquad (3.14)$$

$$\left\langle \Delta_{\ell} \zeta(\mathbf{x}_{1}) \Delta_{\ell} \tau_{\mathrm{NL}}(\mathbf{x}_{2}) \right\rangle = -2 \left(f_{5}^{(1)} + f_{5}^{(2)} - \frac{18}{5} \tau_{\mathrm{NL}} f_{\mathrm{NL}} \right) \mathcal{P}_{\zeta} F , \qquad (3.15)$$

$$\left\langle \Delta_{\ell} \zeta(\mathbf{x}_{1}) \Delta_{\ell} g_{\rm NL}(\mathbf{x}_{2}) \right\rangle = -\left(\frac{75}{54} f_{5}^{(2)} + \frac{25}{54} f_{5}^{(3)} - \frac{36}{5} g_{\rm NL} f_{\rm NL} \right) \mathcal{P}_{\zeta} F \,, \tag{3.16}$$

$$\left\langle \Delta_{\ell} \ln \mathcal{P}(\mathbf{x}_1) \, \Delta_{\ell} \ln \mathcal{P}(\mathbf{x}_2) \right\rangle = 4\tau_{\rm NL} \, \mathcal{P}_{\zeta} \, F \,, \qquad (3.17)$$

$$\langle \Delta_{\ell} f_{\rm NL}(\mathbf{x}_1) \, \Delta_{\ell} f_{\rm NL}(\mathbf{x}_2) \rangle = \frac{25}{36} \left(4\tau_6^{(1)} + \tau_6^{(2)} + \frac{576f_{\rm NL}^2}{25} \tau_{\rm NL} + 4g_6^{(1)} - \frac{96f_{\rm NL}}{5} f_5^{(1)} - \frac{48f_{\rm NL}}{5} f_5^{(2)} \right) \mathcal{P}_{\zeta} F , \quad (3.18)$$

$$\left\langle \Delta_{\ell} \ln \mathcal{P}(\mathbf{x}_{1}) \, \Delta_{\ell} f_{\rm NL}(\mathbf{x}_{2}) \right\rangle = \frac{5}{6} \left(4f_{5}^{(1)} + 2f_{5}^{(2)} - \frac{48}{5} f_{\rm NL} \tau_{\rm NL} \right) \, \mathcal{P}_{\zeta} \, F \,, \tag{3.19}$$

$$\left\langle \Delta_{\ell} \ln \mathcal{P}(\mathbf{x}_1) \, \Delta_{\ell} \tau_{\mathrm{NL}}(\mathbf{x}_2) \right\rangle = 4 \left(\tau_6^{(1)} + g_6^{(2)} - 3\tau_{\mathrm{NL}}^2 \right) \, \mathcal{P}_{\zeta} \, F \,, \tag{3.20}$$

$$\langle \Delta_{\ell} \ln \mathcal{P}(\mathbf{x}_1) \Delta_{\ell} g_{\rm NL}(\mathbf{x}_2) \rangle = \frac{25}{27} \left(3g_6^{(1)} + g_6^{(3)} - \frac{324}{25} g_{\rm NL} \tau_{\rm NL} \right) \mathcal{P}_{\zeta} F.$$
 (3.21)

These ensemble averages are able to probe combinations of parameters controlling 5 and 6 point functions, as explained above. The previous combinations allow one to individually test *each* of the parameters characterizing the five-point function. Indeed, a combination of eqs. (3.15), (3.16) and (3.19) lead to the following expressions for these parameters evaluated in the full sky

$$f_5^{(1)} \mathcal{P}_{\zeta} F = \frac{3}{5} \left\langle \Delta_{\ell} \ln \mathcal{P}(\mathbf{x}_1) \Delta_{\ell} f_{\mathrm{NL}}(\mathbf{x}_2) \right\rangle + \frac{1}{2} \left\langle \Delta_{\ell} \zeta(\mathbf{x}_1) \Delta_{\ell} \tau_{\mathrm{NL}}(\mathbf{x}_2) \right\rangle + \frac{6}{5} f_{\mathrm{NL}} \tau_{\mathrm{NL}} \mathcal{P}_{\zeta} F , \quad (3.22)$$

$$f_5^{(2)} \mathcal{P}_{\zeta} F = -f_5^{(1)} \mathcal{P}_{\zeta} F - \frac{1}{2} \langle \Delta_{\ell} \zeta(\mathbf{x}_1) \Delta_{\ell} \tau_{\mathrm{NL}}(\mathbf{x}_2) \rangle + \frac{18}{5} f_{\mathrm{NL}} \tau_{\mathrm{NL}} \mathcal{P}_{\zeta} F , \qquad (3.23)$$

$$f_5^{(3)} \mathcal{P}_{\zeta} F = -\frac{1}{3} f_5^{(2)} \mathcal{P}_{\zeta} F - \frac{54}{25} \langle \Delta_{\ell} \zeta(\mathbf{x}_1) \Delta_{\ell} g_{\rm NL}(\mathbf{x}_2) \rangle + \frac{1944}{125} f_{\rm NL} g_{\rm NL} \mathcal{P}_{\zeta} F .$$
(3.24)

In order to individually test the quantities associated with 6-pt functions one can consider correlations among $\tau_{\rm NL}$ and $g_{\rm NL}$ measured in small patches — although the expressions for these quantities depend also on 7 and 8-pt functions. However the parameter $g_6^{(4)}$, containing fifth order derivatives, can not be probed by considering the inhomogeneities of trispectrum to leading order in $\Delta_{\ell}\sigma$. In order to probe $g_6^{(4)}$, one should consider the inhomogeneities of the 5-point function or include the next-to-leading-order contributions in $\Delta_{\ell}\sigma$. However these in general are suppressed by a further factor of \mathcal{P}_{ζ} .

It is straightforward to check that, in the single-source limit, one recovers the results of the previous sections. This is due to consistency relations associating parameters in eqs (3.4) and (3.5) with parameters in (3.2) and (3.3). In the multiple source case, the parameters of eqs. (3.4) and (3.5) are not directly constrained by the observational bounds on $f_{\rm NL}$, $\tau_{\rm NL}$ and $g_{\rm NL}$. The inhomogeneities we are calculating could therefore be very large in certain classes of models — even at the level that might be detectable by re-analysing the WMAP data.

4 When is the inhomogeneity of non-Gaussian parameters large?

In this section, we investigate in more detail when the autocorrelations of $f_{\rm NL}$ and $g_{\rm NL}$ measured in distinct patches can be large, and discuss the differences between single and multiple-source scenarios. We focus our attention on a representative, two-field case, in which the curvature perturbation is expanded as

$$\zeta = N_1 \delta \phi + \frac{1}{2} N_{11} \delta \phi^2 + N_{12} \delta \phi \delta \chi + \frac{1}{2} N_{22} \delta \chi^2 + \frac{1}{6} N_{111} \delta \phi^3 + \frac{1}{2} N_{112} \delta \phi^2 \delta \chi + \frac{1}{2} N_{122} \delta \phi \delta \chi^2 + \frac{1}{6} N_{222} \delta \chi^3 .$$
(4.1)

An expression of this form can be obtained by doing a rotation in field space to the direction, ϕ , generating the first-order contribution to the power spectrum of ζ ; in this way only one linear term in scalar perturbations appear in eq. (4.1). One could instead choose a different field basis in which the second order derivatives are diagonalised (i.e. $N_{12} = 0$), as was

chosen in [70], but this would be at the expense of introducing a second linear term which leads to more cumbersome expressions for the non-linearity parameters. We note that, in general, either choice of eliminating one term from the δN expression (4.1) will lead to a non-trivial field-metric, because the required field space rotation will depend on the scale we are focussing in. However since we can only observe a limited range of scales (around 5 e-foldings) this should typically only introduce small corrections, unless there happen to be large numerical factors which override the expected slow-roll suppression. We will not develop this interesting issue further, but simply adopt the expression (4.1) as a specific Ansatz for the curvature perturbations.

Within this set-up, the non-linearity parameters controlling quantities up to the 6-pt function are:

$$f_{\rm NL} = \frac{5}{6} \frac{N_{11}}{N_1^2},$$

$$f_5^{(1)} = \frac{1}{N_1^6} \left(N_{11}^3 + 2N_{11}N_{12}^2 + N_{12}^2 N_{22} \right),$$

$$f_5^{(2)} = \frac{1}{N_5^5} \left(N_{11}N_{111} + N_{12}N_{112} \right),$$
(4.2)

$$\tau_{\rm NL} = \frac{1}{N_1^4} \left(N_{11}^2 + N_{12}^2 \right),$$

$$\tau_6^{(1)} = \frac{1}{N_1^8} \left(N_{11}^4 + 3N_{11}^2 N_{12}^2 + N_{12}^4 + 2N_{11}N_{12}^2 N_{22} + N_{12}^2 N_{22}^2 \right), \tag{4.3}$$

$$\tau_6^{(2)} = \frac{1}{N_1^6} \left(N_{111}^2 + N_{112}^2 \right),$$

$$g_{\rm NL} = \frac{25}{54} \frac{N_{111}}{N_1^3},$$

(1) $= \frac{1}{N_1^6}$

$$g_6^{(1)} = \frac{1}{N_1^7} \left(N_{111} (N_{11}^2 + N_{12}^2) + N_{112} N_{12} (N_{11} + N_{22}) \right)$$
(4.4)

$$g_{6}^{(2)} = \frac{1}{N_{1}^{3}} \left(N_{11}^{2} N_{111} + N_{12}^{2} N_{122} + 2N_{12} N_{11} N_{112} \right) ,$$

$$g_{6}^{(3)} = \frac{1}{N_{1}^{6}} \left(N_{1111} N_{11} + N_{1112} N_{12} \right) .$$
(4.5)

4.1 Inhomogeneous autocorrelation of $f_{\rm NL}$

We have learned that, in a single-source set-up, the autocorrelation of $f_{\rm NL}$ can be large provided that we saturate the observational limit for the full sky value of $g_{\rm NL}$. Let us investigate what happens instead in the multiple source case. In order to get an inhomogeneity for the parameter $f_{\rm NL}$ large enough to be potentially observable with Planck, we need the combination in brackets of (3.18) to be of order $\mathcal{O}(10^{12})$.

Given the present observational constraints, $|f_{\rm NL}| \lesssim 10^2$, $\tau_{\rm NL} \lesssim 10^4$, $|g_{\rm NL}| \lesssim 10^6$ [9–14], one may check that the only term which could be so large is the one proportional to $\tau_6^{(2)}$, that provides

$$\left\langle \Delta_{\ell} f_{\rm NL}(\mathbf{x}_1) \, \Delta_{\ell} f_{\rm NL}(\mathbf{x}_2) \right\rangle \approx \frac{25}{36} \, \tau_6^{(2)} \mathcal{P}_{\zeta} \, F = \left(\left(\frac{9}{5} g_{\rm NL}\right)^2 + \left(\frac{5}{6} \frac{N_{112}}{N_1^3}\right)^2 \right) \mathcal{P}_{\zeta} \, F \,. \tag{4.6}$$

Notice that the first term in the right hand side with $g_{\rm NL}$ is the same leading contribution we found in the single-source case, see eq. (2.23). The second term represents a pure multiple-source contribution and its magnitude is independent of $g_{\rm NL}$. While the form of $\tau_6^{(2)}$ in eq. (4.6) is specific for the two-source model (4.1) that we are considering as an example, the conclusion that the inhomogeneities of $f_{\rm NL}$ are not uniquely determined by the magnitude of $q_{\rm NL}$ holds for generic multiple-source scenarios, as we will show below.

The result (4.6) shows that large inhomogeneities of $f_{\rm NL}$ are generated by cubic derivatives of N, which also generate loop corrections to $\tau_{\rm NL}$. In the limit $f_{\rm NL}^2 \ll |g_{\rm NL}|$, the dominant part of one-loop corrections to $\tau_{\rm NL}$ is given by

$$\tau_{\rm NL}^{1-\rm loop} \approx \left(\tau_6^{(2)} + \frac{N_{112}^2}{N_1^6} + \frac{N_{122}^2}{N_1^6}\right) \mathcal{P}_{\zeta} \ln(k\ell) \,, \tag{4.7}$$

which implies that

$$\langle (\Delta_{\ell} f_{\rm NL})^2 \rangle \approx \left(\frac{5}{6}\right)^2 \tau_{\rm NL}^{1-\rm loop} - \left(\frac{5}{6}\right)^2 \left(\frac{N_{112}^2}{N_1^6} + \frac{N_{122}^2}{N_1^6}\right) \mathcal{P}_{\zeta} \ln(k\ell) \leqslant \left(\frac{5}{6}\right)^2 \tau_{\rm NL}^{1-\rm loop} \,. \tag{4.8}$$

This has to be compared with what we found in the single-source case, eq. (2.28), in which the autocorrelation of $f_{\rm NL}$ is uniquely determined by $\tau_{\rm NL}^{1-\rm loop}$, or equivalently by $g_{\rm NL}^2 \mathcal{P}_{\zeta}$ according to the relation (2.27). In the multiple-source case, $\tau_{\rm NL}^{1-\rm loop}$ instead sets only an upper bound on the inhomogeneities of $f_{\rm NL}$ and the actual level of inhomogeneities could be quite different from $\tau_{\rm NL}^{1-\rm loop}$.

It is straightforward to show that this conclusion holds for generic multiple-source models, thus opening interesting possibilities for discriminating between single and multiplesource scenarios. Defining a unit vector $u_a^{(k)} = \delta_{ak}$, the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality for the inner product of the vectors $u_b^{(k)} N_a N_{abc}$ and N_c leads to

$$(u_b^{(k)} N_a N_{abc} N_c)^2 \leqslant (u_b^{(k)} N_a N_{abc} N_{cde} N_d u_e^{(k)}) (N_f N_f) , \qquad (4.9)$$

where only the repeated lower case indices are summed over. The one-loop corrections to $\tau_{\rm NL}$ containing two three-point vertices are given by

$$\tau_{\rm NL}^{1-\rm loop} = \frac{N_a N_{abc} N_{bcd} N_d}{(N_e N_e)^4} \mathcal{P}_{\zeta} = \sum_k \frac{u_b^{(k)} N_a N_{abc} N_{cde} N_d u_e^{(k)}}{(N_f N_f)^4} \mathcal{P}_{\zeta} , \qquad (4.10)$$

where we have neglected the logarithm associated with loop integrals. This represents the dominant contribution to the loop corrections, provided that $|g_{\rm NL}| \gg f_{\rm NL}^2$, and that there are no large loops associated with higher than three-point vertices. Similarly we can write

$$\tau_6^{(2)} = \frac{N_a N_b N_{abc} N_{cde} N_d N_e}{(N_f N_f)^5} = \sum_k \frac{(u_b^{(k)} N_a N_{abc} N_c)^2}{(N_f N_f)^5} .$$
(4.11)

Comparing the above expressions to the inequality (4.9), and making use of the inequality $(54/25)^2 g_{\rm NL}^2 \leq \tau_6^{(2)}$ derived in [16], we find

$$\left(\frac{54}{25}\right)^2 \mathcal{P}_{\zeta} g_{\mathrm{NL}}^2 \leqslant \mathcal{P}_{\zeta} \tau_6^{(2)} \leqslant \tau_{\mathrm{NL}}^{1-\mathrm{loop}} .$$

$$(4.12)$$

In the limit $|g_{\rm NL}| \gg f_{\rm NL}^2$, using eq. (3.18) we therefore find the general result

$$\langle (\Delta_{\ell} f_{\rm NL})^2 \rangle \lesssim \left(\frac{5}{6}\right)^2 \tau_{\rm NL}^{1-\rm loop}$$
 (4.13)

The inequality is saturated in the single-source case (2.28) where the magnitude of the inhomogeneities is set by $\tau_{\rm NL}^{1-\rm loop}$. In multiple source scenarios, $\tau_{\rm NL}^{1-\rm loop}$ can be greater than $\langle (\Delta_{\ell} f_{\rm NL})^2 \rangle$. The inhomogeneities of $f_{\rm NL}$ could therefore provide an interesting new tool for discriminating between single and multiple source models. While the result (4.13) only applies in the limit $|g_{\rm NL}| \gg f_{\rm NL}^2$ and assuming there are no large loops with higher than three-point vertices, it could nevertheless offer an intriguing new window for probing inflationary physics.

Similar information can be obtained by considering the structure of the trispectrum. The inequality (4.12) implies

$$\left(\frac{54}{25}\right)^2 \mathcal{P}_{\zeta} g_{\rm NL}^2 \leqslant \tau_{\rm NL}^{1-\rm loop} \,, \tag{4.14}$$

which is again saturated for the single-source case. Under the assumptions stated above, there are no significant loop corrections to $g_{\rm NL}$, and $\tau_{\rm NL}$ is dominated by the loop correction as we are considering the limit $\tau_{\rm NL}^{\rm tree} \sim f_{\rm NL}^2 \ll |g_{\rm NL}|$. We therefore see that both the inhomogeneities of $f_{\rm NL}$ and the ratio of the two parameters $g_{\rm NL}$ and $\tau_{\rm NL}$ have the opportunity to provide interesting new tools for distinguishing between single and multiple source models.

4.2 Inhomogeneities of $g_{\rm NL}$

We can apply the same procedure to analyze the autocorrelator of $g_{\rm NL}$. This quantity is given by

$$\langle \Delta_{\ell} g_{\rm NL}(\mathbf{x}_1) \, \Delta_{\ell} g_{\rm NL}(\mathbf{x}_2) \rangle = \left(\frac{625}{324} \tau_8^{(1)} + \frac{625}{2916} \tau_8^{(3)} - 36g_{\rm NL}^2 \tau_{\rm NL} + \frac{3750}{2916} g_8^{(2)} - \frac{50}{3} g_{\rm NL} g_6^{(1)} - \frac{50}{9} g_{\rm NL} g_6^{(3)} \right) \mathcal{P}_{\zeta} F \,.$$
 (4.15)

Based on a measurement accuracy of $|g_{\rm NL}| \sim 10^6$ (which will be improved by up to two orders of magnitude with Planck [14]) we require the term in brackets to be $\mathcal{O}(10^{22})$ in order to be able to probe the inhomogeneity with WMAP data. With Planck data values as small as $\mathcal{O}(10^{18})$ could be relevant.

The new non-linearity parameters which enter at this order are:

$$g_6^{(3)}N_1^6 = N_{1111}N_{11} + N_{1112}N_{12}, \qquad \tau_8^{(3)}N_1^8 = N_{1111}^2 + N_{1112}^2, \tag{4.16}$$

$$\tau_8^{(1)} N_1^{10} = N_{111}^2 N_{11} (N_{11} + N_{12}) + 2N_{111} N_{112} N_{12} (N_{11} + N_{22}) + N_{112}^2 (N_{22}^2 + N_{22}^2), \quad (4.17)$$

$$g_8^{(2)}N_1^9 = N_{1111}(N_{11}N_{111} + N_{12}N_{112}) + N_{1112}(N_{12}N_{111} + N_{22}N_{112}).$$
(4.18)

Notice that only two new quantities are important for studying the new correlator of eq. (4.15). These are N_{1111} and N_{1112} , which are two out of the five fourth derivatives of N. Unless one of these two quantities is large, the correlator (4.15) does not give competitive information compared to the correlators we considered in the previous sections. If one of the fourth derivatives is assumed to be very large, then the dominant term is simply $\tau_8^{(3)}$.

This implies that we can constrain N_{1111}/N_1^4 and N_{1112}/N_1^4 to the level of 10^{15} with WMAP and 10^{13} with Planck.

On the other hand, $|f_{\rm NL}^{1-\rm loop}| \simeq |N_{1111}|/N_1^4 P_{\zeta} \lesssim 10^2$ provides the constraint $|N_{1111}|/N_1^4 \lesssim 10^{11}$, so barring an accurate cancellation between this term and the tree level $f_{\rm NL}^{\rm tree}$ we do not find interesting constraints from this contribution. However for N_{1112} there is no 1-loop constraint from $f_{\rm NL}$, and instead the tightest constraint comes from $\tau_{\rm NL}^{1-\rm loop} = N_{1112}N_{12}P_{\zeta}/N_1^6 \lesssim 10^4$. This does not constitute a dominant constraint compared to the expected sensitivity with the Planck satellite unless $|N_{12}|/N_1^2$ is larger than unity.

In conclusion, we see some similarities between studying the autocorrelation of $\Delta_{\ell} f_{\rm NL}$ and here the autocorrelation of $\Delta_{\ell} g_{\rm NL}$. In both cases one can constrain two higher order derivatives, the one which is present in the single-source case, i.e. N_{111} and N_{1111} which are proportional to $g_{\rm NL}$ and $h_{\rm NL}$ respectively, but this constraint is not very competitive compared to the natural constraint we get from consider the loop contribution to lower order correlators unless there is a chance cancellation between the loop and the tree level terms. For the 'cross-derivatives', N_{112} and N_{1112} , the loop constraints are weaker (especially in the case of N_{112}) and we can achieve a tighter probe by considering the inhomogeneity of non-Gaussian correlators.

5 Conclusions

In this paper, we investigated under which conditions inflationary parameters can be inhomogeneous to an observable level, focussing in particular on observables controlling local non-Gaussianity. We have demonstrated that if we subdivide the entire sky into a large number of small patches, the value of cosmological observables associated with the properties of the curvature fluctuation can differ from patch to patch. In particular, we have shown that correlators between *n*-point functions of curvature fluctuations as measured in one patch, and *k*-point functions as measured in another patch, depend on (n + k)-point functions in the entire sky. This implies that the expected degree of inhomogeneity in observable quantities can be quantified in a rather model independent manner. In interesting cases it results large enough to be measurable, since at present we have only weak constraints on parameters controlling higher-order point functions in the full sky. Consequently, inhomogeneities of non-Gaussian parameters can also be seen as feasible method for probing or constraining higher-point functions.

We have analyzed in detail the degree of inhomogeneity of local non-Gaussian observables, first in the single-source case, in which only one scalar field contributes to the generation of primordial curvature perturbation (as in curvaton models), then in multiple-source set-ups. In the case of single-source models, we have shown that autocorrelators of $f_{\rm NL}$ evaluated in different patches depend on the value of $g_{\rm NL}$ in the full sky. If $g_{\rm NL}$ turns out to be large enough to saturate its present day bound, we should expect variations of $f_{\rm NL}$ of order one hundred from patch to patch, large enough to be observable. Autocorrelators of $g_{\rm NL}$, on the other hand, can be used to set constraints on $h_{\rm NL}$, the parameter characterizing 5-point functions: present day data are accurate enough to be able to set an upper bound $|h_{\rm NL}| \leq \text{few} \times 10^{11}$. In the case of multiple source models, we have shown that correlators between parameters controlling *n*-point functions in different patches, with $n \leq 4$, can be useful for probing individually the several new parameters that characterize five and six point functions.

We have pointed out interesting connections between the degree of inhomogeneities and loop corrections to non-Gaussian observables. Typically, models that lead to sizable inhomogeneities are also characterized by large loop corrections to inflationary observables. We have used this fact to determine consistency relations between quantities denoting respectively inhomogeneities and loop contributions to non-Gaussian observables. These consistency relations take the form of inequalities in multiple source models, that are saturated in the single-source limit: consequently, they offer new observational perspectives for distinguishing between single and multiple source set-ups.

The conclusion of our theoretical analysis is that a sizable degree of inhomogeneity in non-Gaussian observables is allowed by present day bounds on $g_{\rm NL}$ and $\tau_{\rm NL}$. We have then described observational prospects for probing inhomogeneities of non-Gaussian observables, discussing the accuracy we should expect for determining correlators of *n*-point functions measured in different patches of the skies. We discussed geometrical effects that reduce the accuracy, and conservatively took them into account in our estimates. We have also pointed out that alternative techniques based on needlets analysis of CMB data are particularly well suited for testing non-Gaussianity in selected regions of the sky. It would be very interesting to apply those techniques to study inhomogeneities.

Acknowledgments

We thank Emma Beynon, Paolo Creminelli, Rob Crittenden, Dominic Galliano, Alan Heavens, Antony Lewis, David Seery and Yuko Urakawa for discussions. GT is supported by an STFC Advanced Fellowship ST/H005498/1. DW is supported by STFC grant ST/H002774/1. CB and SN thank the ICG, University of Portsmouth for hospitality on a visit during which this project was initiated.

References

- M. Liguori, E. Sefusatti, J. Fergusson and E. Shellard, Primordial non-gaussianity and bispectrum measurements in the cosmic microwave background and large-scale structure, Adv. Astron. 2010 (2010) 980523 [arXiv:1001.4707] [INSPIRE].
- [2] X. Chen, Primordial non-gaussianities from inflation models, Adv. Astron. 2010 (2010) 638979 [arXiv:1002.1416] [INSPIRE].
- [3] C.T. Byrnes and K.-Y. Choi, Review of local non-gaussianity from multi-field inflation, Adv. Astron. 2010 (2010) 724525 [arXiv:1002.3110] [INSPIRE].
- [4] E. Komatsu, Hunting for primordial non-gaussianity in the cosmic microwave background, Class. Quant. Grav. 27 (2010) 124010 [arXiv:1003.6097] [INSPIRE].
- [5] D. Wands, Local non-gaussianity from inflation, Class. Quant. Grav. 27 (2010) 124002 [arXiv:1004.0818] [INSPIRE].
- [6] N. Kaiser, On the spatial correlations of Abell clusters, Astrophys. J. 284 (1984) L9.
- [7] N. Dalal, O. Dore, D. Huterer and A. Shirokov, The imprints of primordial non-gaussianities on large-scale structure: scale dependent bias and abundance of virialized objects, Phys. Rev. D 77 (2008) 123514 [arXiv:0710.4560] [INSPIRE].
- [8] Planck science team home, http://www.rssd.esa.int/index.php?project=Planck.
- [9] WMAP collaboration, E. Komatsu et al., Seven-year Wilkinson Microwave Anisotropy Probe (WMAP) observations: cosmological interpretation, Astrophys. J. Suppl. 192 (2011) 18
 [arXiv:1001.4538] [INSPIRE].

- [10] V. Desjacques and U. Seljak, Signature of primordial non-Gaussianity of φ³-type in the mass function and bias of dark matter haloes, Phys. Rev. D 81 (2010) 023006 [arXiv:0907.2257]
 [INSPIRE].
- [11] P. Vielva and J. Sanz, Constraints on f_{NL} and g_{NL} from the analysis of the N-pdf of the CMB large scale anisotropies, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. **404** (2010) 895 [arXiv:0910.3196] [INSPIRE].
- [12] J. Smidt et al., A measurement of cubic-order primordial non-gaussianity $(g_{NL} \text{ and } \tau_{NL})$ with WMAP 5-year data, arXiv:1001.5026 [INSPIRE].
- [13] J. Fergusson, D. Regan and E. Shellard, Optimal trispectrum estimators and WMAP constraints, arXiv:1012.6039 [INSPIRE].
- [14] J. Smidt et al., CMB constraints on primordial non-gaussianity from the bispectrum (f_{NL}) and trispectrum $(g_{NL} \text{ and } \tau_{NL})$ and a new consistency test of single-field inflation, Phys. Rev. D 81 (2010) 123007 [arXiv:1004.1409] [INSPIRE].
- [15] M. Sasaki, J. Valiviita and D. Wands, Non-gaussianity of the primordial perturbation in the curvaton model, Phys. Rev. D 74 (2006) 103003 [astro-ph/0607627] [INSPIRE].
- [16] T. Suyama and S. Yokoyama, Extension of local-type inequality for the higher order correlation functions, JCAP 07 (2011) 033 [arXiv:1105.5851] [INSPIRE].
- [17] C. Lin and Y. Wang, Quadra-spectrum and quint-spectrum from inflation and curvaton models, JCAP 07 (2010) 011 [arXiv:1004.0461] [INSPIRE].
- [18] L. Leblond and E. Pajer, Resonant trispectrum and a dozen more primordial N-point functions, JCAP 01 (2011) 035 [arXiv:1010.4565] [INSPIRE].
- [19] E. Dimastrogiovanni, N. Bartolo, S. Matarrese and A. Riotto, Non-gaussianity and statistical anisotropy from vector field populated inflationary models, Adv. Astron. 2010 (2010) 752670 [arXiv:1001.4049] [INSPIRE].
- [20] N. Bartolo, E. Dimastrogiovanni, M. Liguori, S. Matarrese and A. Riotto, An estimator for statistical anisotropy from the CMB bispectrum, JCAP 01 (2012) 029 [arXiv:1107.4304] [INSPIRE].
- [21] S. Kanno, M. Kimura, J. Soda and S. Yokoyama, Anisotropic inflation from vector impurity, JCAP 08 (2008) 034 [arXiv:0806.2422] [INSPIRE].
- [22] M.-a. Watanabe, S. Kanno and J. Soda, Inflationary universe with anisotropic hair, Phys. Rev. Lett. 102 (2009) 191302 [arXiv:0902.2833] [INSPIRE].
- [23] M.-a. Watanabe, S. Kanno and J. Soda, Imprints of anisotropic inflation on the cosmic microwave background, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 412 (2011) L83 [arXiv:1011.3604] [INSPIRE].
- [24] T.R. Dulaney and M.I. Gresham, Primordial power spectra from anisotropic inflation, Phys. Rev. D 81 (2010) 103532 [arXiv:1001.2301] [INSPIRE].
- [25] A. Gumrukcuoglu, B. Himmetoglu and M. Peloso, Scalar-scalar, scalar-tensor and tensor-tensor correlators from anisotropic inflation, Phys. Rev. D 81 (2010) 063528
 [arXiv:1001.4088] [INSPIRE].
- [26] K. Dimopoulos, Statistical anisotropy and the vector curvaton paradigm, arXiv:1107.2779 [INSPIRE].
- [27] K. Dimopoulos, D. Wills and I. Zavala, *Statistical anisotropy from vector curvaton in D-brane inflation*, arXiv:1108.4424 [INSPIRE].
- [28] C.T. Byrnes, M. Gerstenlauer, S. Nurmi, G. Tasinato and D. Wands, Scale-dependent non-gaussianity probes inflationary physics, JCAP 10 (2010) 004 [arXiv:1007.4277] [INSPIRE];

C.T. Byrnes, S. Nurmi, G. Tasinato and D. Wands, *Scale dependence of local* f_{NL} , *JCAP* **02** (2010) 034 [arXiv:0911.2780] [INSPIRE].

- [29] K. Enqvist and M.S. Sloth, Adiabatic CMB perturbations in pre-big bang string cosmology, Nucl. Phys. B 626 (2002) 395 [hep-ph/0109214] [INSPIRE];
 D.H. Lyth and D. Wands, Generating the curvature perturbation without an inflaton, Phys. Lett. B 524 (2002) 5 [hep-ph/0110002] [INSPIRE];
 T. Moroi and T. Takahashi, Effects of cosmological moduli fields on cosmic microwave background, Phys. Lett. B 522 (2001) 215 [Erratum ibid. B 539 (2002) 303] [hep-ph/0110096] [INSPIRE];
 A.D. Linde and V.F. Mukhanov, Non-gaussian isocurvature perturbations from inflation, Phys. Rev. D 56 (1997) 535 [astro-ph/9610219] [INSPIRE];
 S. Mollerach, Isocurvature baryon perturbations and inflation, Phys. Rev. D 42 (1990) 313 [INSPIRE].
- [30] D.H. Lyth, C. Ungarelli and D. Wands, The primordial density perturbation in the curvaton scenario, Phys. Rev. D 67 (2003) 023503 [astro-ph/0208055] [INSPIRE].
- [31] G. Dvali, A. Gruzinov and M. Zaldarriaga, A new mechanism for generating density perturbations from inflation, Phys. Rev. D 69 (2004) 023505 [astro-ph/0303591] [INSPIRE].
- [32] L. Kofman, Probing string theory with modulated cosmological fluctuations, astro-ph/0303614 [INSPIRE].
- [33] A.A. Starobinsky, Multicomponent de Sitter (inflationary) stages and the generation of perturbations, JETP Lett. 42 (1985) 152 [Pisma Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz. 42 (1985) 124] [INSPIRE].
- [34] M. Sasaki and E.D. Stewart, A general analytic formula for the spectral index of the density perturbations produced during inflation, Prog. Theor. Phys. 95 (1996) 71 [astro-ph/9507001]
 [INSPIRE].
- [35] M. Sasaki and T. Tanaka, Superhorizon scale dynamics of multiscalar inflation, Prog. Theor. Phys. 99 (1998) 763 [gr-qc/9801017] [INSPIRE].
- [36] D.H. Lyth, K.A. Malik and M. Sasaki, A general proof of the conservation of the curvature perturbation, JCAP 05 (2005) 004 [astro-ph/0411220] [INSPIRE].
- [37] D.H. Lyth and Y. Rodriguez, The inflationary prediction for primordial non-gaussianity, Phys. Rev. Lett. 95 (2005) 121302 [astro-ph/0504045] [INSPIRE].
- [38] S.B. Giddings and M.S. Sloth, Semiclassical relations and IR effects in de Sitter and slow-roll space-times, JCAP 01 (2011) 023 [arXiv:1005.1056] [INSPIRE].
- [39] M. Gerstenlauer, A. Hebecker and G. Tasinato, *Inflationary correlation functions without infrared divergences*, *JCAP* 06 (2011) 021 [arXiv:1102.0560] [INSPIRE].
- [40] C.T. Byrnes, M. Gerstenlauer, A. Hebecker, S. Nurmi and G. Tasinato, Inflationary infrared divergences: geometry of the reheating surface versus δN formalism, JCAP 08 (2010) 006 [arXiv:1005.3307] [INSPIRE].
- [41] Y. Urakawa and T. Tanaka, IR divergence does not affect the gauge-invariant curvature perturbation, Phys. Rev. D 82 (2010) 121301 [arXiv:1007.0468] [INSPIRE].
- [42] A.D. Linde, Lectures on inflationary cosmology, hep-th/9410082 [INSPIRE].
- [43] W. Unruh, Cosmological long wavelength perturbations, astro-ph/9802323 [INSPIRE].
- [44] G. Geshnizjani and R. Brandenberger, Back reaction and local cosmological expansion rate, Phys. Rev. D 66 (2002) 123507 [gr-qc/0204074] [INSPIRE].
- [45] Y. Urakawa, Influence of gauge artifact on adiabatic and entropy perturbations during inflation, Prog. Theor. Phys. 126 (2011) 961 [arXiv:1105.1078]. 11 pages/ v2: several descriptions are added [INSPIRE].

- [46] S.B. Giddings and M.S. Sloth, Cosmological observables, IR growth of fluctuations and scale-dependent anisotropies, Phys. Rev. D 84 (2011) 063528 [arXiv:1104.0002] [INSPIRE].
- [47] A.L. Erickcek, M. Kamionkowski and S.M. Carroll, A hemispherical power asymmetry from inflation, Phys. Rev. D 78 (2008) 123520 [arXiv:0806.0377] [INSPIRE].
- [48] A. Lewis, The real shape of non-gaussianities, JCAP 10 (2011) 026 [arXiv:1107.5431] [INSPIRE].
- [49] D. Hanson and A. Lewis, Estimators for CMB statistical anisotropy, Phys. Rev. D 80 (2009) 063004 [arXiv:0908.0963] [INSPIRE].
- [50] C.T. Byrnes, M. Sasaki and D. Wands, The primordial trispectrum from inflation, Phys. Rev. D 74 (2006) 123519 [astro-ph/0611075] [INSPIRE].
- [51] P. Natoli et al., BOOMERanG constraints on primordial non-gaussianity from analytical minkowski functionals, arXiv:0905.4301 [INSPIRE].
- [52] A. Riotto and M.S. Sloth, Strongly scale-dependent non-gaussianity, Phys. Rev. D 83 (2011) 041301 [arXiv:1009.3020] [INSPIRE].
- [53] D. Babich and M. Zaldarriaga, Primordial bispectrum information from CMB polarization, Phys. Rev. D 70 (2004) 083005 [astro-ph/0408455] [INSPIRE].
- [54] O. Rudjord et al., Directional variations of the non-gaussianity parameter f_{NL} , Astrophys. J. **708** (2010) 1321 [arXiv:0906.3232] [INSPIRE].
- [55] D. Pietrobon et al., Needlet bispectrum asymmetries in the WMAP 5-year data, arXiv:0905.3702 [INSPIRE].
- [56] D. Seery, Infrared effects in inflationary correlation functions, Class. Quant. Grav. 27 (2010) 124005 [arXiv:1005.1649] [INSPIRE].
- [57] J. Kumar, L. Leblond and A. Rajaraman, Scale dependent local non-gaussianity from loops, JCAP 04 (2010) 024 [arXiv:0909.2040] [INSPIRE].
- [58] T. Suyama and F. Takahashi, Non-gaussianity from symmetry, JCAP 09 (2008) 007 [arXiv:0804.0425] [INSPIRE].
- [59] L. Boubekeur and D. Lyth, Detecting a small perturbation through its non-gaussianity, Phys. Rev. D 73 (2006) 021301 [astro-ph/0504046] [INSPIRE].
- [60] D.H. Lyth, The curvature perturbation in a box, JCAP **12** (2007) 016 [arXiv:0707.0361] [INSPIRE].
- [61] J. Bramante and J. Kumar, Local scale-dependent non-gaussian curvature perturbations at cubic order, JCAP 09 (2011) 036 [arXiv:1107.5362] [INSPIRE].
- [62] T. Suyama, T. Takahashi, M. Yamaguchi and S. Yokoyama, On classification of models of large local-type non-gaussianity, JCAP 12 (2010) 030 [arXiv:1009.1979] [INSPIRE].
- [63] K. Enqvist, S. Nurmi, O. Taanila and T. Takahashi, Non-gaussian fingerprints of self-interacting curvaton, JCAP 04 (2010) 009 [arXiv:0912.4657] [INSPIRE];
 K. Enqvist and T. Takahashi, Signatures of non-gaussianity in the curvaton model, JCAP 09 (2008) 012 [arXiv:0807.3069] [INSPIRE];
 K. Enqvist and S. Nurmi, Non-gaussianity in curvaton models with nearly quadratic potential, JCAP 10 (2005) 013 [astro-ph/0508573] [INSPIRE].
- [64] F. Bernardeau and J.-P. Uzan, Inflationary models inducing non-gaussian metric fluctuations, Phys. Rev. D 67 (2003) 121301 [astro-ph/0209330] [INSPIRE].
- [65] F. Bernardeau and J.-P. Uzan, Finite volume effects for non-gaussian multi-field inflationary models, Phys. Rev. D 70 (2004) 043533 [astro-ph/0311421] [INSPIRE].

- [66] F. Bernardeau and T. Brunier, Non-gaussianities in extended D-term inflation, Phys. Rev. D 76 (2007) 043526 [arXiv:0705.2501] [INSPIRE].
- [67] C.T. Byrnes and G. Tasinato, Non-gaussianity beyond slow roll in multi-field inflation, JCAP 08 (2009) 016 [arXiv:0906.0767] [INSPIRE].
- [68] D. Battefeld and T. Battefeld, On non-gaussianities in multi-field inflation (N fields): bi and tri-spectra beyond slow-roll, JCAP 11 (2009) 010 [arXiv:0908.4269] [INSPIRE].
- [69] T. Suyama and M. Yamaguchi, Non-gaussianity in the modulated reheating scenario, Phys. Rev. D 77 (2008) 023505 [arXiv:0709.2545] [INSPIRE].
- [70] N.S. Sugiyama, E. Komatsu and T. Futamase, Non-gaussianity consistency relation for multi-field inflation, Phys. Rev. Lett. 106 (2011) 251301 [arXiv:1101.3636] [INSPIRE].
- [71] K.M. Smith, M. LoVerde and M. Zaldarriaga, A universal bound on N-point correlations from inflation, Phys. Rev. Lett. 107 (2011) 191301 [arXiv:1108.1805] [INSPIRE].
- [72] C.T. Byrnes, K. Koyama, M. Sasaki and D. Wands, *Diagrammatic approach to non-gaussianity from inflation*, JCAP 11 (2007) 027 [arXiv:0705.4096] [INSPIRE].
- [73] S. Yokoyama, T. Suyama and T. Tanaka, Efficient diagrammatic computation method for higher order correlation functions of local type primordial curvature perturbations, JCAP 02 (2009) 012 [arXiv:0810.3053] [INSPIRE].